



# **Deliverable D3.4**

# Protocol on Hydrological Modelling

# Pond Ecosystems for Resilient Future Landscapes in a Changing Climate



This project has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation Programme under Grant Agreement No ID 869296

### Ponderful Partners:



University of Vic – Central University of Catalonia (Spain) – Prof. Sandra Brucet (PI, Project coordinator), Dr. Diana van Gent (Project Manager)

IGB im Forschungsverbund Berlin (Germany) – Dr. Thomas Mehner (PI, Task lead 2.4)

Katholieke Universiteit Leuven (Belgium) – Dr. Luc De Meester (PI, WP2 coordinator)

Haute Ecole Spécialisée de Súisse occidentale (Switzerland) - Dr. Beat Oertli (PI, WP4 coordinator)

Universitat de Girona (Spain) –Dr. Dani Boix (PI)

Ecologic Institut gemeinnützige GmbH (Germany) – Dr. Manuel Lago (PI, Task lead 1.4)

University College London (UK) -Dr. Carl Sayer (PI)

Middle East Technical University (Turkey)- Dr. Meryem Beklioğlu (PI)

**CIIMAR - Interdisciplinary Centre of Marine and Environmental Research (Portugal)** –Dr. José Teixeira (PI, WP5 cocoordinator)

Aarhus University (Denmark) - Dr. Thomas A. Davidson (PI)

Uppsala University (Switzerland) – Dr. Malgorzata Blicharska (PI)

Bangor University (UK) – Dr. Sopan Patil (PI)

Technical University of Munich (Germany) – Dr. Johannes Sauer (PI, Task lead 1.6)

I.S.A.R.A. - Institut Supérieur d'Agriculture Rhône-Alpes (France) - Dr. Joël Robin (PI)

Middle East Technical University (Turkey) - Dr. Meryem Beklioğlu (PI)

Freshwater Habitats Trust (UK) – Dr. Jeremy Biggs (PI, WP5 co-coordinator)

Universidad de la República (Uruguay) - Dr. Matías Arim (PI)

Randbee Consultants SL (Spain) - Juan Arevalo Torres (PI)

Amphi International APS (Denmark) – Lars Briggs (PI, Task lead 5.4)



Authors: Zuhal Akyurek, Çağrı Karaman, Mustafa Berkay Akpınar

**Contributors:** Julie Fahy, Sandra Brucet,

**Document title:** Deliverable D3.4 – Protocol on Hydrological Modelling **Document Type:** Deliverable

WP No: 3 WP Title: Scenarios and Modelling WP Lead: BU

**Date:** 30 November 2021 **Document Status:** Final version



This project has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation Programme under Grant Agreement No ID869296

**Disclaimer:** Neither the European Commission nor any person acting on behalf of the Commission is responsible for the use which might be made of the following information.

The views expressed in this publication are the sole responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the European Commission.

## **Table of Contents**

1. Executive Summary	1
2. Introduction	1
3. Method	5
3.1 Monitoring the water level	8
3.2 Collecting meteorological data	10
3.3 Surface water contribution	10
4. Conclusions	13
5. References	13

# **List of Figures**

Figure 1. Hydrological Cycle	1
Figure 2. Principles for Classification of Water Balance Models as a Subgroup of Hydrole	ogical
Models (Chow et al. 1988)	3
Figure 3. Interface of WEAP System.	3
Figure 4. Overview of an Ephemeral Pond. (Reith, 2019)	5
Figure 5. Example of Neighboring Kettle Ponds (Becker & Amer, 2017)	6
Figure 6. Overview of a Spring Fed Pond((Guide to Different Types of Pond (Natural & I	Man-Made),
2018).	6
Figure 7. Example of Stream Ponds for PONDERFUL.	7
Figure 8. Different Hydrological Contributors of Ponds due to Surface Flow and Water T	able. (Golus
et al., 2017)	7
Figure 9. Hydrological System of a Pond.	8
Figure 10. HOBO Water Level Data Logger.	8
Figure 11. HOBOware Logger Launching.	9
Figure 12. Example Plot from HOBOware Software.(Corporation, 2020)	9
Figure 13. An Example of Current Meter Utilization.(Meals & Tech, 2008).	11
Figure 14. Mid-Section Method.	12
Figure 15. Mean Section Method.	12

## **1.Executive Summary**

The Protocol on hydrological modelling will be used in understanding the hydrology of the ponds/pondscapes. It presents the methodology to collect the needed data (precipitation, evaporation, water level, surface water discharge) to develop the budget analysis for the ponds. The water budget of the ponds is calculated on a monthly basis, and if all data is collected on a daily basis, they can be used to understand the hydrology of the ponds on a daily basis.

## 2. Introduction

Hydrological cycle is the continuous movement of water and exchange of the energy influencing climate around the Earth. Hydrological/water cycle (Figure 1) is made of some major components which are evaporation, condensation and precipitation. Evaporation is the process of a liquid changing to a gas, which is driven by the Sun. However, it is mostly influenced by wind, temperature and humidity. Condensation is the process of a gas changing to a liquid. Lastly, precipitation is the direct description of any liquid or solid water which falls to the Earth. As water precipitates, some different processes can be observed. First, soil absorbs some of the water. This water enters the process of transpiration. Transpiration is a process like evaporation where liquid water is turned into water vapor by the plants. Plants push the water toward leaves for photosynthesis and the extra water leaves the plant through stomata. Some of the water pours down as runoff over ground, this is a combined process with channels, rivers and ending into lakes, oceans, etc. Lastly, some of the water absorbed by soil starts to move to the deeper parts of the soil. Water starts seeping and this gives rise to an increase in the groundwater level.



Figure 1. Hydrological Cycle

The components of the hydrological cycle are directly linked with changes in the atmospheric temperature and radiation balance (Inglezakis et al., 2016). According to recent studies, under climate warming, the global terrestrial cryosphere has undergone changes involving glacier retreat, snow

reduction and permafrost degradation, all affecting the water cycle (Yongjian et al., 2020). Likewise, rapid population growth and the resultant water consumption have direct effects on the water cycle and relevant budget (Dosdogru et al., 2020).

A basin model simulates hydrologic processes of this cycle in a holistic approach. Therefore, basin-scale modeling of water bodies has great importance for a better understanding of the future of water resources and to create solutions for problems caused by changes in the amount of water. Various models are used to estimate the physical parameters of the basin and streamflow.

Basin-scale models can be classified according to the modeling approaches used (Figure 2). One of the most critical classifications is based on the type: empirical models, conceptual models, and physicallybased models (Sitterson et al., 2017). Empirical models are data-driven models, and they involve mathematical equations that define the functional relationships between inputs and outputs by using regression and correlation models whereas conceptual models consist of linked reservoirs, which represent physical elements in a basin and hydrological processes by using semi-empirical equations. On the other hand, physical models are based on spatial distribution and evaluation of parameters describing physical characteristics (Devia, Ganasri, & Dwarakish, 2015). Basin-scale models can further be classified as lumped, semi-distributed, or distributed models. The lumped models simplify basin parameters into a single unit, whereas semi-distributed and distributed models include spatial variability of processes, boundaries, and characteristics of the basin (Daniel et al., 2011). Models can also be classified as deterministic or stochastic. The stochastic model can produce different outputs for a single set of inputs, whereas the deterministic model will give a single output. Deterministic models obtain outputs by known mathematical relations, whereas stochastic models obtain a range of outputs by inputs that are statistically distributed (Melone, et al., 2005). Another classification can be based on whether the model includes time or not. Sorooshian et al. (2007) had classified models as an event-based model in which output is produced for specific periods and as a continuous model in which output is produced for long term continuous periods. An event-based hydrological model focuses on revealing basins response to an individual storm event at a finer scale, whereas a continuous hydrological model reveals both hydrological processes and the cumulative effect of several storm events over a more extended period with both wet and dry conditions (Chu & Steinman, 2009). The main difference between these models is that evapotranspiration and groundwater seepage may be ignored in the event-based model, but the continuous model should include these processes for better reflection of soil drying (Scharffenberg, 2008). The coarse-scale continuous models will require bigger datasets when compared with the fine-scale event-based models (Chu & Steinman, 2009).

There are quite utilizable hydrological software applications which exist to understand the water balance of the water bodies. They can collaborate with soil, water, climate, land use and some spatial information (Jajarmizadeh et al., 2012). It is obvious that there has been a great interest (Middelkoop et al., 2001) and different studies (Botter et al., 2013) for the evaluation of the impacts of human activities and climate change on water balance and hydrological regime. It is also obvious that there are some different situations in understanding water balance and the complicated structures and processes have given rise to the development of lots of models.



Figure 2. Principles for Classification of Water Balance Models as a Subgroup of Hydrological Models (Chow et al. 1988)

One of the examples for these software applications might be the WEAP<sup>1</sup> (Water Evaluation and Planning) system. It is a free and user-friendly software especially for specific water resources planning and relevant scenarios. Three main operations for WEAP can be counted as:

- Water Balance Database, for supply and demand
- Scenario Generation Tool, for simulations including the runoff, supply, pollution, storage, etc.
- Policy Analysis Tool, for a full range of management options with different scenarios.

Overview of WEAP system can be seen in Figure 3.



Figure 3. Interface of WEAP System.

The software allows the users to do integrated scenarios including some engineering components (e.g. pumping systems) for present and future. Briefly, users can obtain some scenarios like 'what if population growth and economic development patterns change', 'what if groundwater is more fully exploited' or 'what if the mix of agricultural crops changes'. Another example may be the MIKE Hydro

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> https://www.weap21.org/index.asp?action=200

Basin.<sup>2</sup> It is a common interface framework of MIKE by DHI with some modules like Basin module and River module.

- Basin module, a considerably flexible model framework for utilizations of management and planning perspectives of water resources within a river basin. It can be utilized for integrated water resources management analysis, scenarios for water shortage, reservoir and hydropower optimization and irrigation performances.
- River module, another framework for 1D river model embedding and executing. It can be utilized for river hydraulics, flood issues, dam break observations, sediment analysis and optimization of hydraulic structures like gates.

Additionally, RIBASIM<sup>3</sup> (River Basin Planning Management) is another integrated tool for water systems and their surroundings. It can be utilized for irrigation improvements, reservoir strategies, drought warning systems, etc.

Lastly, SWAT<sup>4</sup> (Soil and Water Assessment tool) is one of the most popular tools for integrated analysis of water and soil. Land management practices considering lots of perspectives from water, sediment, chemicals etc. can be utilized. Most importantly, SWAT can simulate a hydrological cycle with different time steps via hydrologic response units.

Water balance models can be counted as computational aspects of water movements which means it would be better to consider these models as a subgroup of hydrological models (Abdollahi et al., 2019). Water balance models are widely used popular models to conceive the aspects of water movement for the hydrological cycle. There has been considerable research on the development and application of water balance models since the 1940s (Zaremba & Smoleński, 2000). There are lots of models having different data types and inputs. Some of them are quite complex with huge amounts of inputs while some of them need a few parameters (Sood & Smakhtin, 2015). Briefly, water balance models assume that the system is closed which means there is no gain or loss for the system. The fundamental water balance equation for a pond/lake can be presented in the following form.

$$P \pm E \pm \Delta S \pm Q = 0 \tag{1}$$

where P is the precipitation, E is the evaporation,  $\Delta S$  is the change in the storage and Q is the inflows/outflows (sign indicates whether it is an outflow or not).

This equation can be enhanced by dividing flows as inflow/outflow or by considering other inputs that may be effective for the specific watershed/wetland/lake or pond like cattle consumption (Duesterhaus et al., 2008) or existing drainage/sewage systems (Riley et al., 2018).

Water resources management systems including larger water bodies and wetlands with necessary scenarios, especially for climate change and restoration purposes (Karakuş et al., 2017), can be also obtained by the use of water balance models. Additionally, some preliminary estimations can be worked out for construction of artificial ponds (e.g. fishponds) which is a very helpful tool to estimate probable water budget of a pond before construction (Teichert-Coddington et al., 1988).

In the literature, hydrology and the relevant water balance for ponds are underestimated despite their important environmental roles (Biggs et al., 2005). It is mostly believed that their functions are to collect the water from rainfall/run-off and store it till it is lost by evaporation (Lehsten et al., 2011). On the other hand, recent studies have shown that this is not the case. They have important contributions to the river networks, and thus to other bigger water bodies connected to the networks (Golus et al., 2017).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> https://www.mikepoweredbydhi.com/products/mike-hydro-basin

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> https://www.deltares.nl/en/software/ribasim/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> https://swat.tamu.edu/

## **3.Method**

A simple size-based definition of ponds was developed in the early 1990s and subsequently widely adopted. According to size-based definition, ponds are defined as water bodies between  $1m^2$  and 2 ha in areas that may be permanent or seasonal, including man-made or natural water bodies. Since the size is small from a hydrological point of view, the modelling becomes more challenging due to the availability of the data in the hydrological cycle. Within the PONDERFUL project, a simple water balance model for the selected ponds will be set and necessary observations from the field (water level/pressure, inflows and outflows, etc.) will be carried out with an appropriate time interval. Likewise, it is important to understand the type of ponds and the relevant possible hydrological function of the different types of ponds.

Ponds have different characteristics according to ecological and hydrological concepts. They can be artificial or natural. The artificial ones can be for the following purposes:

- Fishponds which are the most popular artificial ponds. It is quite crucial to monitor pH levels, nutrient levels, dissolved oxygen content, temperature, and water hardness in these ponds.
- Wildlife Ponds
- Mini Ponds
- Swimming Ponds
- Retention and Irrigation Ponds

However, the main goal is to understand the hydrology of natural ponds. Natural ponds also have some subgroups and relevant hydrology. They may have quite different positions from an ecological perspective also. There may be some different classifications according to different perspectives. From hydrological point of view, natural ponds can be classified as 'ephemeral', 'kettle', 'spring fed' and 'meadow-stream'.

Ephemeral ponds are isolated and mostly small ponds. They are isolated because they are mostly formed due to snowmelt and some rain. Most of the time their basins are close, and they do not have a connection with larger water bodies or basins. (Figure 4). This is the main reason that they dry up within a few months. They are seasonal and dependent on the snow/rain (Means, 2018).



Figure 4. Overview of an Ephemeral Pond. (Reith, 2019)

Kettle ponds are considerably old ponds formed when glaciers retreat from surface depressions. Glaciers melt slowly and form these ponds with some sediments. In some regions, they are one of the richest and most diverse ecosystems in wetlands (Pätzig et al., 2012). Kettle ponds which do not have groundwater connections are generally dry in the warm summer months (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Example of Neighboring Kettle Ponds (Becker & Amer, 2017)

As the name suggests, spring-fed ponds are ponds formed by underground springs. The flow goes to the surface and starts to fill some depression on the surface (Figure 6). Mostly, these kinds of ponds are clean and include water with rich minerals.



*Figure 6. Overview of a Spring-Fed Pond((Guide to Different Types of Pond (Natural & Man-Made),* 2018).

Meadow – Stream Ponds are ponds formed by rivers/streams. They are mostly formed as a part of the stream system (Figure 7). These dynamic flows give rise to highly rich and valuable water and food sources for animals, they have direct connections with larger water bodies on the surface. Considerably rich ecosystems exist in these ponds.



Figure 7. Example of Stream Ponds for PONDERFUL.

The important point to mention here is conceiving all the possible contributions for the hydrology of a pond regardless of the type. The contribution of groundwater, surface flow, rainfall, runoff and other hydrological components must be determined carefully and evaluated with some methods. Different possible contributors for different ponds can be seen in Figure 8. If the groundwater and surface water do not feed the pond, the main contributor is the precipitation (Figure 8a), if the groundwater feeds the pond there may be inflow from groundwater, if there is outflow it must be considered in the budget analysis (Figure 8b). The pond can be fed by groundwater and surface water where the inputs and outputs must be considered in the budget analysis of the pond (Figure 8c).



Figure 8. Different Hydrological Contributors of Ponds due to Surface Flow and Water Table. (Golus et al., 2017)

The system of a pond can be conceptualized (Figure 9) and the water budget equation can be enhanced as follows.

$$(P - E) + \Delta SWF + \Delta GWF - \Delta S = 0$$
<sup>(2)</sup>



Where  $\Delta SWF$  is the change in surface water flows and  $\Delta GWF$  is the change in groundwater flows.

Figure 9. Hydrological System of a Pond.

### 3.1. Monitoring the water level

The surface water level can be measured with a pressure sensor (e.g. HOBOX). This data logger is utilizable for recording water levels and temperatures in shallow wells, streams, lakes and freshwater wetlands. There are different types and models of water level loggers for different purposes. However, the following three models can be utilized in monitoring the water level in the ponds in PONDERFUL:

- The HOBO U20L-04, which can take measurements between 0 4 meters. Accuracy is 0.1% and resolution is <0.014 kPa (0.002 psi), 0.14 cm (0.005 ft) water.
- The HOBO U20L-01, which can take measurements between 0 9 meters. Accuracy is 0.1% and resolution is <0.02 kPa (0.003 psi), 0.21 cm (0.007 ft) water.
- The HOBO U20L-02, which can take measurements between 0 30.6 meters. Accuracy is 0.1% and resolution is <0.04 kPa (0.006 psi), 0.41 cm (0.013 ft) water.

Their operational ranges are between  $-20^{\circ}$  to  $50^{\circ}$ C ( $-4^{\circ}$  to  $122^{\circ}$ F) and they have a battery life of 5 years with 1 minute or greater logging interval. Lastly, their dimensions are 3.18 cm (1.25 inches) diameter, 15.24 cm (6.0 inches) length; mounting hole 6.3 mm (0.25 inches) diameter.

The data logger is placed on the bed of the pond at the deepest part of the water body. A borehole or anchor system can be installed to keep the logger stable. The collected pressure values are corrected with the atmospheric pressure measured within the pond. The data are downloaded during the field visits once every two weeks.



Figure 10. HOBO Water Level Data Logger.

The data logger must be installed with HOBOware<sup>5</sup> software. After installing the program, the user can select the outputs like temperature, relative humidity, pressure (pressure is the appropriate choice for water level observations) (Figure 11).

	Temp/RH			
1	Name: test			
Denley	Serial Number: 10478899			
Status Deploy	Battery Level: 179 %			
13				
nsors				
onfigure Sensors	to Log:			Alarma
1) Temperature		<enter here="" label=""></enter>		Fibers
✓ 2) Relative H	lumidity (Depends on Temp Channel 1)	<enter here="" label=""></enter>	· 10	( Interaction )
ogging Interval:	1 minute 🔹			
Logging Mode:	Fixed Interval -			
ogging Duration:	29.2 days			
Start Logging:	Now • 11:16:35 AM			
Stop Logging:	🕐 When memory fills 🛛 💿 Never (i	wrap when full)		
	Push Button			
	After 1 day -			

Figure 11. HOBOware Logger Launching.

In this interface, users can select the logging interval and the relevant logging duration so that the saved data can be exported without any data loss. Then, the outputs can be plotted in the software. An example plot can be seen in Figure 12 for temperature, relative humidity, dew point and time.



Figure 12. Example Plot from HOBOware Software.(Corporation, 2020)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> https://www.onsetcomp.com/hoboware-free-download/

#### 3.2 Collecting meteorological data

Daily Precipitation and temperature values observed at the closest meteorological station must be obtained. Evaporation values can be calculated by using the Penman-Monteith equation.

$$\lambda ET = \frac{\Delta(R_n - G) + \rho_a c_p \frac{(e_s - e_a)}{r_a}}{\Delta + \chi(1 + \frac{r_s}{r_a})}$$
(3)

where  $\lambda$  is the latent heat for water vaporization,  $R_n$  is the net radiation, G is the soil heat flux,  $(e_s - e_a)$  represents the vapor pressure deficit of the air,  $\rho_a$  is the mean air density at constant pressure,  $c_p$  is the specific heat of the air,  $\Delta$  represents the slope of the saturation vapor pressure temperature relationship,  $\gamma$  is the psychrometric constant,  $r_s$  and  $r_a$  are the bulk surface and aerodynamic resistances.

If the data needed for the evaporation calculation by using the Penman-Monteith equation are not available, the Thornthwaite equation can be used (Eq. 4).

$$PET = 16(\frac{L}{12})(\frac{N}{30})(\frac{10T_d}{l})^{\alpha}$$
(4)

where PET is the estimated potential evapotranspiration (mm/month),

 $T_d$  is the average daily temperature in Celsius (use '0', if it is negative),

N is the number of days in month being considered,

L is the average day length (hours) of the month being considered,  $\alpha = (6.75 * 10^{-7})I^3 - (7.71 * 10^{-5})I^2 + (1.792 * 10^{-2})I + 0.49239,$ and I =  $\sum_{i=1}^{12} \left(\frac{T_{m_i}}{5}\right)^{1.514}$  is the heat index with 12 months mean temperatures.

#### 3.3 Surface water contribution

The surface water contribution to the pond must be obtained. If there is any water recharging into the pond, discharge must be measured. This can be done by current meters. A current meter is a (very) sensitive (and fragile) instrument which provides an estimate of the stream velocity at a point. Having selected a suitable site, a tape measure across the river is laid orthogonal to the flow direction (Figure 13). The tape is secured on both banks of the river. Then intervals for measurement of velocity across the cross-section are selected (0.5 m interval is recommended). At each interval the river depth and the river velocity are measured. The measurement must be repeated for other intervals along the cross-section. Once the survey is completed, the discharge can be computed as a summation of velocity multiplied by area for each interval.



Figure 13. An Example of Current Meter Utilization (Meals & Tech, 2008).

In order to evaluate the flow correctly, the x-sections of the channels must be determined carefully. The velocities at different points at the x-sections must be observed. These velocities can be estimated from different points due to the chosen method for calculations which are mentioned below. 'Velocity-Area' methods can be very useful and easy to apply (Herschy, 1993). In these methods, some different observation techniques can be chosen as follows:

- The 0.6 depth method, velocity measurements are taken at a single point at 0.6 of the depth from the surface and this observed value is assumed as a mean value of that section. It's a fast method and reliable (Herschy, 1993).
- The 0.2 and 0.8 method, velocities should be observed at two points from the surface which are 0.2 and 0.8 of the depth from the surface and their averages are assumed as mean velocity of that section (Meals & Tech, 2008).
- Six-point method, velocity measurements are taken at 0.2, 0.4, 0.6 and 0.8 of the depth below the surface and mean velocity of that section can be found as:

$$V_{\text{mean}} = 0.1 * \left( V_{\text{surface}} + 2 * V_{0.2} + 2 * V_{0.4} + 2 * V_{0.6} + 2 * V_{0.8} + V_{\text{bed}} \right)$$
(5)

Additionally, sections can be evaluated by using different methods. However, the mid-section method might be easy to apply for the discharge calculations (Figure 14).



Figure 14. Mid-Section Method.

In the light of these observations, flow can be calculated by the mid-section method as:

$$Q_n = V_n \left(\frac{b_n - b_{n-1}}{2}\right) d_n \tag{6}$$

where  $V_n$  is the mean velocity,

 $d_n$  is the depth of flow at that vertical,

 $(b_n, b_{n-1})$  are distances from an initial point on the bank to verticals.

Additionally, the mean-section method can also be employed which is the method to evaluate flow by using the successive verticals (Figure 15).



Figure 15. Mean Section Method.

$$Q_{n,n+1} = \left(\frac{V_n + V_{n+1}}{2} \left(\frac{d_n + d_{n+1}}{2}\right) (b_{n+1} - b_n)\right)$$
(7)

where  $Q_{n,n+1}$  is the discharge through n, n+1,

 $V_n, V_{n+1}$  are the mean velocities,

 $b_{n+1}$ ,  $b_n$  are the distances from the initial point,

 $d_n$ ,  $d_{n+1}$  are the depth of flow at that vertical

### 4. Conclusions

The hydrological budget analysis can be performed after collecting all the related data. The hydrological modelling depending on the simple water budget analysis will be performed on a monthly basis. Depending on the availability of the data, the budget calculation can be done on a daily basis. After collecting all needed data, it is possible to model the behaviour of the pond/pondscape. This will let us understand the hydrology of the temporary and permanent ponds, how they are connected with groundwater and control runoff from the catchment. The developed model can be used to simulate the surface area fluctuations resulting from projected climate change model results and land use changes.

### **5.References**

- Abdollahi, K., Bazargan, A., & McKay, G. (2019). Water Balance Models in Environmental Modeling. *Handbook of Environmental Materials Management*, May, 1961–1976. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-73645-7 119
- Becker, D., & Amer, Y. (2017). *Cape Cod's Kettle Ponds Are Showing Signs Of Climate Change*. https://www.wbur.org/news/2017/08/02/cape-cod-kettle-ponds
- Biggs, J., Williams, P., Whitfield, M., Nicolet, P., & Weatherby, A. (2005). 15 Years of pond assessment in Britain: Results and lessons learned from the work of Pond Conservation. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*, 15(6), 693–714. https://doi.org/10.1002/aqc.745
- Botter, G., Basso, S., Rodriguez-Iturbe, I., & Rinaldo, A. (2013). Resilience of river flow regimes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 110(32), 12925–12930. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1311920110
- Chu, X., & Steinman, A. (2009). Event and Continuous Hydrologic Modeling with HEC-HMS. *Journal* of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering, 135(1), 119-124. doi:https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)0733-9437(2009)135:1(119)
- Corporation, O. C. (2020). HOBOware ® User 's Guide. 1-226.
- Daniel, E., Camp, J., LeBoeuf, E., Penrod, J., Dobbins, J., & Abkowitz, M. (2011). Watershed Modeling and its Applications: A State-of-the-Art Review. *The Open Hydrology Journal*, 5(1), 26-50. doi:https://doi.org/10.2174/1874378101105010026
- Devia, G. K., Ganasri, B. P., & Dwarakish, G. S. (2015). A Review on Hydrological Models. *Aquatic Procedia*, *4*, 1001-1007. doi:10.1016/j.aqpro.2015.02.126
- Dosdogru, F., Kalin, L., Wang, R., & Yen, H. (2020). Potential impacts of land use/cover and climate changes on ecologically relevant flows. *Journal of Hydrology*, 584, 124654. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JHYDROL.2020.124654
- Duesterhaus, J. L., Ham, J. M., Owensby, C. E., & Murphy, J. T. (2008). Water balance of a stockwatering pond in the Flint Hills of Kansas. *Rangeland Ecology and Management*, 61(3), 329–338. https://doi.org/10.2111/07-097.1
- Florencio, M., Gómez-Rodríguez, C. Gómez, A., Reina, M., Gutierrez, E., Siljeström, P., Serrano, L., & Díaz-Paniagua, C. (1. (2009). TOWARDS A QUANTITATIVE CLASSIFICATION OF

TEMPORARY PONDS IN DOÑANA (SW SPAIN). International Conference on Mediterranean Temporary Ponds.

- Golus, W., Hydrobiologia, E. B.-G.-, & 2017, U. (2017). Water circulation in the moraine ponds of northern Poland. *Springer*, 793. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-016-2830-7
- Guide to Different Types of Pond (Natural & Man-made). (2018).
- Herschy, R. (1993). The velocity-area method. *Flow Measurement and Instrumentation*, 4(1), 7–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/0955-5986(93)90004-3
- Inglezakis, V. J., Poulopoulos, S. G., Arkhangelsky, E., Zorpas, A. A., & Menegaki, A. N. (2016). Aquatic Environment. *Environment and Development*, 137–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-62733-9.00003-4
- Jajarmizadeh, M., Harun, S., & Salarpour, M. (2012). A review on theoretical consideration and types of models in hydrology. *Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, 5(5), 249–261. https://doi.org/10.3923/jest.2012.249.261
- Karakuş, H., Aydin, H., & Erdem, O. (2017). A Hydrologic Restoration Attempt of the Dried Akgöl Wetland (Central Anatolia, Turkey). Wetlands, 37(5), 837–850. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13157-017-0916-2
- Kulmar, G. (n.d.). Pond Classification
- Lehsten, D., Asmuth, J. von, Wetlands, M. K.-, & 2011, undefined. (2011). Simulation of water level fluctuations in kettle holes using a time series model. *Springer*, *31*(3), 511–520. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13157-011-0174-7
- Meals, D. W., & Tech, T. (2008). Surface Water Flow Measurement for Water Quality Monitoring Projects Introduction. *Environmental Sciences*, *3*, 1–16.
- Means, R. P. M. (2018). Florida's Ephemeral Ponds and Pond-Breeding Amphibians. https://www.coastalplains.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Ephemeral-Pond-Brochure-Website.pdf
- Melone, F., Barbetta, S., Diomede, T., Peruccacci, S., Rossi, M., Tessarolo, A., & Verdecchia, M. (2005). Review and selection of hydrological models – Integration of hydrological models and meteorological inputs. Gennaio: Istituto di Ricerca per la Protezione Idrogeologica Contract No. 12.
- Middelkoop, H., Daamen, K., Gellens, D., Grabs, W., Kwadijk, J. C. J., Lang, H., Parmet, B. W. A. H., Schädler, B., Schulla, J., & Wilke, K. (2001). Impact of climate change on hydrological regimes and water resources management in the Rhine basin. *Climatic Change*, 49(1–2), 105–128. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1010784727448
- Pätzig, M., Kalettka, T., Glemnitz, M., & Berger, G. (2012). What governs macrophyte species richness in kettle hole types? A case study from Northeast Germany. *Limnologica*, 42(4), 340–354. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.limno.2012.07.004
- Reith, S. (2019). Vernal Pools Divers. https://www.kzyx.org/post/vernal-pools-diverseephemeral#stream/0
- Riley, W. D., Potter, E. C. E., Biggs, J., Collins, A. L., Jarvie, H. P., Jones, J. I., Kelly-Quinn, M., Ormerod, S. J., Sear, D. A., Wilby, R. L., Broadmeadow, S., Brown, C. D., Chanin, P., Copp, G. H., Cowx, I. G., Grogan, A., Hornby, D. D., Huggett, D., Kelly, M. G., ... Siriwardena, G. M. (2018). Small Water Bodies in Great Britain and Ireland: Ecosystem function, human-generated degradation, and options for restorative action. *Science of The Total Environment*, 645, 1598–1616. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2018.07.243

Scharffenberg, B. (2008, May 28). Introduction to HEC-HMS - Watershed Modeling with HEC-HMS.

Sacramento, CA.

- Sitterson, J., Knightes, C., Parmar, R., Wolfe, K., Muche, M., & Avant, B. (2017). An Overview of Rainfall-Runoff Model Types. Athens: United States Environmental Protection Agency.
- Stewart, E. R., & Kantrud, H. A. (1971). Classification of Natural Ponds and Lakes in the Glaciated Prairie Region - Robert E. Stewart, Harold A. Kantrud.
- Sood, A., & Smakhtin, V. (2015). Global hydrological models: a review. *Hydrological Sciences Journal*, 60(4), 549–565. https://doi.org/10.1080/02626667.2014.950580
- Sorooshian, S., Wheater, H., & Sharma, K. (2007). *Hydrological Modelling in Arid and Semi-Arid Areas* (*International Hydrology Series*). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. doi:https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511535734
- Teichert-Coddington, D. R., Stone, N., & Phelps, R. P. (1988). Hydrology of fish culture ponds in Gualaca, Panama. Aquacultural Engineering, 7(5), 309–320. https://doi.org/10.1016/0144-8609(88)90013-1
- Water Cycle. (n.d.). https://www.britannica.com/science/water-cycle
- Yongjian, D., Shiqiang, Z., & Rensheng, C. (2020). Cryospheric Hydrology: Decode the Largest Freshwater Reservoir on Earth. *Bulletin of Chinese Academy of Sciences (Chinese Version)*, 35. https://doi.org/10.16418/j.issn.1000-3045.20200302002
- Zaremba, L. S., & Smoleński, W. H. (2000). Optimal portfolio choice under a liability constraint. *Annals of Operations Research*, 97(1–4), 131–141.



Coordinator: Prof. Sandra Brucet, University of Vic - Central University of Catalonia

**Project Manager**: Dr. Diana van Gent, University of Vic – Central University of Catalonia

Contact: diana.vangent@uvic.cat

Duration: 1 December 2020 to 1 December 2024

Website: <u>www.ponderful.eu</u>

### Facebook: /Ponderful-331847228188664

Twitton anandalalimata



### Pond Ecosystems for Resilient Future Landscapes in a Changing Climate

This project has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation Programme under Grant Agreement No ID 869296